IN THE



SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA JUN 6 1988

CASE NO. 72,462 CLERK, SUPPLY COURT

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 81By 310 CF Deputy Clerk

DANIEL LEE DOYLE,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF VERIFIED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE FILED PURSUANT TO RULE 3.850, FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/DEFENDANT DANIEL LEE DOYLE

THOMSON ZEDER BOHRER WERTH & RAZOOK
Sanford L. Bohrer
R. Marcus Cobourn
4900 Southeast Financial Center
200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-2363
(305) 350-7200

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Broward County Circuit Court's denial of: (1) a motion to vacate a conviction for first degree murder and a sentence of death; and (2) a motion for a stay of execution pending resolution of post-conviction proceedings.

On May 6, 1988, Governor Martinez signed the Death Warrant for Defendant/Appellant Daniel Lee Doyle ("Doyle"). The Death Warrant is valid from Noon, July 7, 1988 to Noon, July 14, 1988. Execution is scheduled for 7 A.M. on July 8, 1988.

In 1982, Doyle was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. Doyle appealed, and his conviction and sentence were affirmed by this Court. See, Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1984). The judgment and sentence became final on February 6, 1985. Doyle timely filed a Verified Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence ("Motion to Vacate") pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, in Broward County Circuit Court on February 6, 1987. The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Vacate on September 13, 1987. No other post-conviction motion has been filed by Doyle. On May 11, 1988, immediately after being notified of the signing of the Death Warrant, Doyle filed a Motion for Stay of Execution. The Motion to Vacate and Motion for Stay of Execution were denied by the circuit court on May 16, 1988. Doyle timely commenced this appeal

from such denials on May 19, 1988, pursuant to Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

Doyle is retarded. His conviction and sentence are in large part a product of such retardation and related psychological factors, as well as statements made by the court and the State to the jury which mislead the jurors as to their role in Doyle's trial and sentencing.

A. The Trial Court And Prosecutor Lead The Jury To Believe It Had A Minimal Role In The Sentencing Process.

The court and the prosecutor in Doyle's trial repeatedly mislead the jury about its responsibility in the capital sentencing process under Florida law. $\frac{1}{2}$ The court made the following comments during jury selection: $\frac{2}{2}$

THE COURT: Now, some of you initially may be feeling a little bit squeamish about sitting in judgment of your fellowman. It is not an unusual feeling for jurors to have either. You are new at this game. My telling you that your job is going to be easy may not make it so in your mind. Actually, it is easy for me

 $[\]frac{1}{}$ The Court in the evidentiary hearing on Doyle's Motion to Vacate stated that the <u>Caldwell</u> issue may be viable, hearing Tr. 104-05, although this motion was denied months later.

^{2/ &}quot;R. __" shall refer to the record of the trial. "Hearing Tr. __" shall refer to the transcript of the hearing on the Motion to Vacate. "App. __" shall refer to the appendix to this brief.

to say that. I have been doing this for over 11 years now. So in my mind there is nothing too complicated about a criminal trial. You will find that to be the case as this trial goes on. You will find that to be the situation. There is nothing difficult about sitting as jurors in a criminal case.

R. 316 (emphasis added).

If any of you are harboring any feelings of nervousness or of fear of what to say or what to do, first of all, I want to assure you that's a perfectly normal, natural feeling. That is probably how you should be feeling really.

The second thing I want to assure you of is this: Whatever feelings you have along those lines that you may have will disappear. They will go away. As we get in the trial, you will be perfectly comfortable in your role as jurors. You will know what to expect. Quite frankly, some of it may be somewhat, even boring-

R. 318-19 (emphasis added).

I assure you of this: I want you to keep in mind, what we do here is judge what people do. We don't judge any moral guilt. We don't judge if a person is bad or if he is good. You as jurors determine what happened. When you have determined what happened by your verdict, your job in most cases is done.

So, once again, you are not sitting in judgment as to whether or not a person is good or bad or whether he is morally sound or immorally or anything else like that. That, of course, is left to a higher judge. You, as jurors, deal with facts. You determine just what a person did and that is what your job is. So any moral qualms you may have about sitting as a juror in any case, I hope are somewhat alleviated by that fact. Once again, you determine what people do or didn't do, not really who they are. Any sentence in

this case, the ultimate decision is up to me, the Judge.

R. 319-20 (emphasis added).

Comments made by the prosecutor during jury selection complemented the court's statements:

MR. HANCOCK: Do you understand that if we get that far, yours will only be a recommendation, the Honorable <u>Judge Moe makes the final determination</u> as to the sentencing?

MRS. RUBIN: Right.

MR. HANCOCK: Even if we get that far, yours is only a recommendation; do you understand that?

MRS. RUBIN: True.

R. 355.

MR. HANCOCK: Yes, but... you could impose the death sentence or recommend it because all it is a recommendation?

MRS. JORGENSEN: Yes.

R. 557 (emphasis added).

The court's instructions to the jury at the close of the guilt/innocence phase of the trial emphasized to the jury that they did not "fix the penalty" and were not responsible for it. The court informed the jury once they decided the verdict their job was over:

THE COURT: I am now going to go over the maximum and minimum penalties which are applicable to each crime we talked about. Of course, the penalty is up to the Court to decide. Jurors do not fix a penalty in the State of Florida. You are not responsible for the penalty in any way because of your verdict.

The possible results of this case are to be disregarded as you exercise your verdict. Your duty is to discuss only the question of whether the State has proved the guilt of the Defendant in accordance with these instructions.

The maximum penalty for the crime of murder in the first degree is death.

R. 1292 (emphasis added).

Your duty is to determine whether or not the Defendant is guilty or not guilty in accordance with these instructions. Once you have done that, you have completely fulfilled your oath and your obligation as jurors.

It's the Judge's job, that's me, to determine what a proper sentence would be if the Defendant is found quilty.

R. 1291 (emphasis added).

Finally, at the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, having conditioned the jury to believe it was not responsible for the imposition of the death penalty, the prosecutor reiterated to the jury that its role in sentencing was minimal:

MR. HANCOCK: What you do, you sit there and you determine what weight you should put on each of those [referring to aggravating and mitigating circumstances] and at that time you come back and give a recommendation to the Honorable Judge Moe and he makes the final determination. Yours is just a recommendation.

R. 1375 (emphasis added). No mention was made of the weight to be given such a recommendation in the sentencing. $\frac{3}{}$

^{3/} See, e.g., Justice Shaw's specially concurring opinion in Grossman v. State, 13 F.L.W. 349, 350 (Fla. May 25, 1988), discussing the viability of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (1975), which clearly makes the jury's recommendation of great (continued...)

MR. HANCOCK: And yours is just a recommendation that you make here. <u>Judge Moe will make the final determination after considering Mr. Doyle's entire background</u>, his entire history.

R. 1381-82 (emphasis added). The jurors were not told whether that "entire background" or "entire history" were in front of them.

In the instructions to the jury before retiring for sentencing deliberation, the court once again minimized the great importance of the jury's recommendation by reinforcing the court's prior statements:

THE COURT: As you have been told, the final decision as to what punishment is going to be imposed is the responsibility of me as the judge.

R. 1387 (emphasis added).

The only indication the court gave to the jury that their sentencing verdict was of critical importance was when the court informed the jurors they should not "act hastily and without due regard to the gravity of these proceedings." R. 1390.

B. Doyle's Trial Counsel Failed To Use Psychological Experts in Sentencing.

Doyle's trial counsel was handling his first capital case. Hearing Tr. 50-51. He had thus never handled a case

 $[\]frac{3}{\text{(...continued)}}$ importance, in light of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985).

where first quilt was decided, including resolution of issues of competency to stand trial and sanity, and then penalty was decided, where related, but different psychological issues might need to be resolved. Apparently because of that inexperience, although he requested that the court appoint medical experts to determine Doyle's competency to stand trial and Doyle's sanity or insanity at the time of the alleged defense, R. 1222, 1334, the subject of the penalty phase "wasn't something that I dwelled upon to any great extent." Hearing Tr. 49. In fact, the reports of the two psychologists he consulted with made no reference whatsoever to the penalty phase. See Evaluations of Seth R. Kreiger and John C. McClure. App. 1 and 2 respectively. Dr. Kreiger swore he was never even consulted regarding the penalty phase. See Kreiger Affidavit, App. 3. No investigation was requested by Doyle's trial counsel or made to determine whether Doyle was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance and did not appreciate the criminality of his conduct or was able to conform his conduct to the requirements of law at the time of the crime. See Section 921.141(6)(b) & (f), Florida Statutes.

The examinations and the written reports of the two psychologists, which were court exhibits at the hearing on the Motion to Vacate, never addressed any issues relevant to mitigation, which simply reflects the inability of Doyle's inexperienced trial counsel to appreciate the issues. See

Evaluations of Dr. Seth R. Kreiger and John C. McClure. Kreiger specifically said any conclusions he reached were not directed toward any mitigating circumstances relevant to the penalty phase and only reflected the purpose for which he was appointed, that is, Doyle's sanity and competency to stand trial and a related Baker Act issue. See Kreiger Affidavit. See also R. 1334 (testimony of Kreiger that the only purposes for which he examined Doyle were competency and sanity). other psychologist, Dr. John McClure, who was never licensed in the State of Florida, could not be located by Doyle's present counsel, but his trial testimony was limited in the same way as Kreiger's. R. 1222 (testimony of McClure that the only purposes for which he examined Doyle were competency and sanity). The trial testimony of these two psychologists only vaguely referred to Doyle's retardation (Dr. Kreiger testified it was only his "impression" that Doyle was retarded, R. 1339-40) and did not address the full range of mental health issues relevant to sentencing. At the hearing on the Motion to Vacate, Doyle's trial counsel claimed he considered the mitigation issues, but had no explanation for how he acted, and why he did nothing in this regard. When asked direct questions regarding his failure to assign the experts to investigate these mitigating circumstances, and faced with a record which categorically shows he made no effort to have those issues addressed, Doyle's trial counsel simply could not recall ever

covering the penalty phase issues raised here with the psychologists. <u>See</u> Hearing Tr. 56-57.

Doyle's counsel testified at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing he asked both psychologists to explore mitigating evidence applicable to the penalty phase of the trial. Hearing Tr. 39-40, 69. When asked for specifics, he Hearing Tr. 56-57 He made no attempt had memory lapses. prior to the hearing to review the reports, his file, or the His testimony is flatly contradicted by everything in the record, including Kreiger's affidavit and the reports issued by the psychologists, all of which indicate McClure and Kreiger were hired solely for sanity and competency purposes at the outset of the trial, and for no other reason. Kreiger has sworn in an affidavit that his examination did not relate to anything other than sanity and competency. See, Kreiger Affidavit. Finally, where Doyle's trial counsel was specific, he was often wrong. For example, he testified Kreiger examined a lengthy confidential school file and listened to the taped confession Doyle gave before he examined Doyle. Hearing Tr. 40-42. Kreiger stated he did not review the school file until the day before he testified at the suppression hearing. Neither McClure nor Kreiger were asked to interview 224. Doyle after the initial examinations and after Doyle had been found guilty to address issues of mitigation. Hearing Tr. 67-68.

Doyle's trial attorney elicited no testimony from Kreiger or McClure regarding mitigating circumstances applicable to Doyle. See R. 1332-1354. Doyle's psychologists were never informed of the statutory mitigating circumstances that might be applicable to Doyle. See Kreiger Affidavit. No questions of the psychologists were asked regarding Doyle's mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime or whether Doyle was able to conform his conduct to the requirement of the law or appreciate the criminality of his conduct.

C. Testimony Which Could Have Been Offered On Doyle's Behalf During The Penalty Phase.

Dr. Russel M. Bauer, Director of Neuropsychology Service for the Department of Clinical Psychology at Shands Hospital, conducted a comprehensive psychological evaluation of Doyle, including examination of general intellectual functioning, and neuropsychological examination consisting of testing memory ability, language skill, visuoperceptual and visuoconstructive ability, and frontal-subcotal functions. See Bauer Evaluation, App. 4. Dr. Bauer also conducted personality testing and collected collateral information from interviews with family members and friends. Dr. Bauer concluded Doyle was in the borderline range of intellectual functioning, with a full scale IQ of 75, showing a verbal IQ of 70 and a performance IO of 87. Bauer Evaluation at 9. Dr. Bauer found significant substance abuse, multiple head injuries and organic brain damage. Bauer Evaluation at 9. Dr. Bauer found that

Doyle had "significant deficits in memory and concentration and deficits in complex vasomotor and motor sequencing tasks." Bauer Evaluation at 8. Personality testing revealed "extremely primitive intellectual ability with few internal resources for coping with psychological stress." Doyle "is likely to become overwhelmed in stressful situations." Bauer Evaluation at 8. Dr. Bauer concluded that Doyle's intellectual deficits severely limit the range of situations with which he is able to effectively cope. Bauer Evaluation at 8. "In particular, he has difficulty thinking for himself, cannot effectively reason through complex problems, and has a severely limited fund of general information on which to draw." Doyle is largely dependent on others to do his thinking for him. Bauer Evaluation at 8.

Based on these results of his evaluation, Dr. Bauer unequivocally stated that Doyle met two statutory mitigating circumstances at the time of the crime. Bauer Evaluation at 9-10; Hearing Tr. 10-13. Regarding Section 921.141(6)(b) requiring that the felony be committed under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, Dr. Bauer wrote:

It is my opinion that this statute is met by the facts of this case. There is evidence that in the year prior to the murder of Pamela Kipp, Mr. Doyle was emotionally disturbed by his brother's untimely death. He had become violent with his girlfriend on several occasions; she describes him as periodically "going berserk" and being remorseful afterwards. He had been drinking and taking drugs more heavily in the months before. His girlfriend had moved out the week earlier in the aftermath of a violent fight, and he was reportedly upset and angry about this, as well as fearful that he would do her further harm. He perceived the police to be harassing him, blaming him for nearly every offense committed in Miramar. Coupled with all of these stressors, Mr. Doyle has, on a developmental basis, suffered poor intellectual endowment, a reading disability, has had several minor head injuries, and has participated in significant substance abuse. These fact introduce possible organic factors which compound the effects of stress in this case.

Id. at 9.

Furthermore, regarding Section 921.141(6)(f) requiring that the defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law be substantially impaired, Dr. Bauer wrote:

The weight of the evidence suggests that the requirements of this statute are also met . . . [T]he factors described above (intellectual impairment, organic factors, recent stressors) would in my opinion combine to substantially impair Mr. Doyle's appreciation of the consequences of his conduct or his ability to control his behavior.

Id. at 9.

D. Doyle Invoked His Right To Counsel, But The Police Ignored Him.

Doyle made three confessions. On the morning of September 6, 1981, police asked Doyle to make a statement.

R. 30; 1012-13. A tape recorded statement was made. R. 1024-41. Doyle was read his Miranda rights and requested counsel, which request was ignored by the interrogators. Immediately

after the taped statement was made, Doyle made an unrecorded confession. R. 247; 1042-47. On September 8, 1981, a taped confession was given by Doyle which the police initiated. R. 1120-31. On September 11, 1981, a second taped confession was given by Doyle, when the police again initiated a discussion with Doyle. R. at 1133-48. At no time did Doyle initiate any discussions with the police or waive his request for counsel made during the first interrogation.

The following recorded dialogue occurred regarding Doyle's right to an attorney during his <u>first statement</u>:

Question: Do you wish to have an attorney
present at this time?

Answer: Well, he's out of town right at the moment.

Question: Well, you do wish to have an attorney here though, you know, while I talk to you now?

Answer: If, you know, we'll talk about that later. I can, yes.

<u>Question</u>: So, what I am saying is, you're willing to talk to me now; right, without your attorney?

Answer: Yes.

<u>Question</u>: Okay. Knowing your rights as I have just related them to you, are you now willing to answer my questions without having your attorney present?

Answer: Yes.

R. 40.

The statements by Doyle clearly invoked his right to counsel.

Police interrogation should have stopped at this point, unless

to clarify Doyle's statements. This Court in Doyle's direct appeal erroneously looked at subsequent statements to determine Doyle did not invoke his right to counsel.

The following are facts from the trial record showing Doyle's desire to have an attorney present. Doyle had wanted to contact an attorney before going down to the police station. R. 248, 254. The attorney referred to by Doyle was in fact out of town and had represented Doyle in the past. R. 77-78. He called his sister-in-law during the interrogation and asked her to get in touch with his attorney. R. 20. in-law testified that Danny called because "he did not know what was going on." R. 210-211. He further stated to her that "[h]e was being questioned and didn't know what he was going to do." Id. Furthermore, Danny's girlfriend, who was present during the first interrogation and confession, testified that the detective "tried to get everyone confused." R. 256-These interrogators knew Doyle was "not too bright" and couldn't read or write. R. 1062. One interrogator, Detective Buzzo, also testified to the effect that he made no attempt at all in putting Doyle in contact with an attorney. R. 72-73. He testified that at no time during the day did he take any measures to put the defendant in touch with his attorney or with the Public Defender's Office. R. 72-73.

E. Two Confessions Were Made After Doyle's Right To An Attorney Attached.

After Doyle's first confession was made two more confessions were elicited. Under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.130 (First Appearance) every arrested person must be taken before a judicial officer within 24 hours of his arrest. Doyle was arrested on September 6, 1981. Doyle's right to an attorney attached 24 hours after his arrest. Consequently, Doyle's confessions on September 8 and 11, 1981 violated his constitutional right to an attorney.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

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