ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/ RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOHN TIEDEMANN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee/Respondent

#

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

Id., 470 U.S. 68,80,83. The record here shows that appellant, through counsel, freely availed himself of this constitutional right of access to mental health professionals in the preparation and the presentation of both his guilt and penalty phase defenses. Counsel moved Judge Moe that a psychiatric expert be appointed to examine appellant prior to trial (DR 1416-1417). Judge Moe complied, ordering an expert evaluation of appellant's sanity at the time of the murder, his competency to stand trial, his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform this conduct to the requirements of the law, and whether he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (DR 1457-1458). Unfortunately for appellant, psychiatrist Arnold Eichert and psychologists John McClure and Seth Krieger all evidently concluded that appellant was both same at the time of the murder and competent to stand trial, so Judge Moe ordered trial to proceed (DR 235; 260-269; 1325-1326; 1349; 1471).

At the pretrial hearing of February 25, 1982 held on appellant's motion to suppress his many confessions to law enforcement personnel, psychiatrist Robert Wylan testified for the defense that based upon his school tests, appellant was "borderline retarded" (DR 198-207). Dr. Krieger, also called by the defense, testified that while appellant was of "borderline intellectual endowment" he was <u>not</u> "functionally retarded" (DR 225, 228). Krieger added, however, that appellant would not fully understand his <u>Miranda</u> rights (DR 230). Dr. Eichert

testified in rebuttal for the State that appellant was actually "<u>brighter</u> than average," but could not fully employ this intelligence due to a degree of "organic brain ... damage" (DR 269-270). Eichert added, however, that appellant would comprehend his <u>Miranda</u> rights (DR 270-271). Upon this and other evidence that appellant's confessions were in no way coerced, Judge Moe ruled that these confessions were voluntary and admissible (DR 294), a conclusion this Court later affirmed, Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353, 356.

At trial, Dr. McClure testified for the defense that based upon his review of appellant's "entire academic file" and personal examination, appellant was indeed "borderline ... retard[ed]" but had no "brain damage" (DR 1210-1214). McClure opined that appellant would react to an authority figure (presumably including a police interrogator) either very respectfully or very hostily (DR 1215). Unfortunately for appellant, the jury inferentially rejected appellant's implicit theory that his low intelligence level and his deference to authority made him confess to a murder he didn't commit, by finding him guilty as charged (DR 1301-1303).

At sentencing, Drs. McClure and Krieger again testified for the defense that appellant was of limited intellect, Dr. McClure adding that appellant had a cronic problem in conforming his conduct to the requirements of the law (DR 1345-1346), and Dr. Krieger adding that appellant had been so

"depressed" by his brother's recent death purportedly in a hunting accident that he had abused intoxicants (DR 1337). The State nullified this statutory and nonstatutory mitigating evidence by representing the testimony of Dr. Eichert (DR 1323-1331), and further by inducing Drs. McClure and Krieger to concede on cross-examination, as McClure had during trial, that appellant was not mentally ill but rather was violently antisocial (DR 1217-1220); 1340-1341; 1348). McClure even conceded that appellant had attempted to feign mental illness (DR 1350-1351). Unfortunately for appellant, the jury implicitly accepted the State's position that appellant was wicked rather than dumb or sick as urged by defense counsel (DR 1384), by recommending a death sentence (DR 1395-1396).

Before imposing sentence, Judge Moe availed himself of appellant's presentence investigation, wherein the foregoing expert psychiatric and psychological opinions that appellant was basically a bad rather than impaired person were squarely presented (DR 1403; 1553-1554). Despite defense counsel's reassertions of appellant's purported stupidity and impulsiveness (DR 1406-1410), Judge Moe in imposing the ultimate sanction rejected appellant's mental history as mitigation (DR 1575-1580), a conclusion this Court implicitly affirmed, see <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 353, 358-359 (Overton, J., dissenting as to sentence).

Appellant's current essential claim that defense counsel was ineffective at trial for not having his mental

health experts plumb deeper into the possibility that he untruthfully confessed to please the police ignores several dispositive factors. First, as noted, Dr. McClure did briefly testify for the defense on this score. Second, the fact that a defendant waives his Miranda rights and confesses a crime to the police due to a mental weakness has since been held not to render the confession involuntary and hence inadmissible unless the police have knowingly exploited this weakness, Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. , 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986), which the instant police clearly did not do. Third, to this day appellant has not brought forth any mental health expert whose testimony would have been markedly more favorable than that actually presented by trial defense counsel. Appellant's attempt to do so at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing fell apart when psychologist Russell Bauer conceded on cross-examination that appellant was sociopathic rather than mentally ill, was capable of great violence, and was not brain damaged (CR 24-29). Appellant has woefully failed to establish either "cause" or "prejudice" under Strickland v. Washington concerning counsel's performance during the guilt phase of his trial. Compare Bush v. Wainwright, 505 So.2d 409, 411 (Fla. 1987).

Similar considerations warrant the rejection of appellant's current claim that defense counsel was ineffective at sentencing for not having presented more convincing mental health experts to paint his frankly evil personage as more pitiably troubled instead. Counsel testified at the Rule

3.850 hearing that he presented as pathetic a picture of appellant's mental state as respect for the truth would allow (CR 36-47; 60-71). That the jury and judge to whom this portrait was presented exercised their prerogative to credit instead the contrary evidence offered by the State, <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 885, 894-895 (Fla. 1987) and <u>Palmes v. Wainwright</u>, 725 F.2d 1511, 1523 (11th Cir. 1984), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 469 U.S. 873 (1984), obviously does not render counsel ineffective under Strickland.

Moreover, as Judge Moe forcefully stated (CR 101-103), a defendant is simply not constitutionally entitled to the appointment of an expert who would agree to make a favorable psychiatric evaluation in accordance with his wishes, <u>Martin v. Wainwright</u>, 770 F.2d 918, 934-935 (11th Cir. 1985), modified, 781 F.2d 185 (11th Cir. 1986), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 107 S.Ct. 307 (1987); <u>Finney v. Zant</u>, 709 F.2d 643, 645 (11th Cir. 1983), contrary to appellant's apparent belief. Direct appellate defense counsel cannot be faulted for failing to present this unpreserved and strained argument to this Court earlier.

III <u>Smith v. Illinois</u> Claim

Appellant's third claim for 3.850 relief below was that the following exchange between Detective Robert Buzzo and himself at the beginning of his first, prearrest interrogation of September 6, 1981 constituted an unambiguous invocation of his Fifth Amendment right to counsel, requiring the suppression of all of his subsequent self-inculpations

to law enforcement officers under <u>Smith v. Illinois</u> and necessitating retrial:

Q. If you want an attorney to be present at this time or at any time hereafter, you are entitled to such counsel. If you cannot afford to pay an attorney, the court will furnish you with one if you so desire. Do you understand?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you wish to have an attorney present at this time?

A. Well, he's out of town right at the moment.

Q. Well, do you wish to have an attorney here though, you know, while I talk to you now?

A. If, you know, we'll talk about that later. I can, yes.

Q. So what I am saying is, you're willing to talk to me now; right, without your attorney?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Knowing your rights as I have just related them to you, are you now willing to answer my questions without having your attorney present?

A. Yes.

(DR 39-40; 1025-1026).

This Court will recall that appellant tendered the same claim to it upon direct appeal, albeit relying primarily upon <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477 (1981) ("Brief of Appellant" on direct appeal, pgs. 15-20), see also <u>Miranda v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), which this Court rejected thusly:

Appellant's claim that he was denied access to an attorney during questioning is a personal one which must be invoked by the defendant in some unambiguous man-Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, ner. 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966); State v. Craig, 237 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1970). The record indicates that Doyle's only mention of an attorney occurred early in the first interrogation session when he remarked that the attorney who had represented him in an earlier matter was currently out of town. Although his girlfriend later attempted to reach an attorney for Doyle, she was unable to testify that Doyle had asked her to do so. At no time in the questioning did Doyle indi-cate an unwillingness to answer questions in the absence of counsel. On these facts it is impossible to find any indication that appellant wished to deal with the po-lice only through counsel, as is necessary to invoke the protection of Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981).

Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353, 356.

This Court's direct appellate finding that appellant never even ambiguously invoked his right to counsel during the aforequoted exchange with Detective Buzzo is simply and dispositively the "law of the case." Johnson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 261 (Fla. April 11, 1988). Appellant's implicit contention that <u>Smith v. Illinois</u> constitutes a "major constitutional change of law" as opposed to a mere "evolutionary refinement" (if that) permitting a revisitation of the law of this case collaterally under <u>Witt v. State</u> is belied by the simple juxtaposition of the relevant holdings of <u>Miranda</u> and <u>Smith</u>. <u>Miranda</u> holds that "if ... [a suspect] indicates in any manner and at any stage of the process that he wishes to consult with an attorney before speaking there can be no questioning," 384 U.S. 436, 444-445, while <u>Smith</u> similarly holds that "where nothing about the request for counsel or the circumstances leading up to the request would render it ambiguous, all questioning must cease," 469 U.S. 91, 98. Moreover, even if <u>Smith</u> could somehow be construed as a major constitutional change of law, such would not benefit this appellant, who never even ambiguously invoked his right to counsel, Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353, 356, as noted.

Assuming arguendo that appellant's statements in the aforequoted passage could somehow be construed as an ambiguous invocation of his right to counsel, the State would submit that Detective Buzzo's responses thereto were appropriately designed to clarify appellant's intentions, which they did: appellant simply did not want counsel present. Compare <u>Martin v. Wainwright</u>, 770 F.2d 918, 923-924. Alternatively assuming arguendo that appellant's statements could somehow be contorted into an unambiguous invocation of his right to counsel, the State would submit that any error in admitting his subsequent confessions to law enforcement personnel at interrogations they initiated would be offset by appellant's self-initiated confession to Officer Ronald Peluso later on September 6 (DR 1066-1068), compare Edwards and Martin,

and by appellant's several confessions of the Kipp murder to a private citizen, his girlfriend Karen Wentnick (DR 1160), <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 353, 355, cf. <u>Zamora v. Dugger</u>, 834 F.2d 956, 958-959 (11th Cir. 1987).

## IV State v. Douse Claim

Appellant's fifth and final claim for 3.850 relief below was that under <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> 3.130 and Article I, Section 16 of the Constitution of the State of Florida, his state constitutional right to the assistance of counsel unwaivably attached 24 hours after his arrest in the early afternoon hours of September 6 (DR 1042-1045), requiring the suppression of all of his subsequent self-inculpations to law enforcement officers under <u>State v. Douse</u>, necessitating retrial. He recasts this claim here on habeas as one of direct appellate ineffectiveness. This claim is doomed to rejection for three reasons.

First, appellant irrevocably procedurally defaulted upon this claim by not preserving it at trial and presenting it upon direct appeal, see e.g. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 323, 324-325 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 467 U.S. 1220 (1984). As noted, appellate defense counsel should not be faulted for withholding unpreserved claims.

Second, in <u>United States v. Gouveia</u>, 467 U.S. 180, 187 (1984) the Supreme Court of the United States held that "[t]he Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches only when

formal judicial proceedings are initiated against an individual by way of indictment, information, arraignment, or preliminary hearing." See also Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625 (1986); Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412 (1986); Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 688-689 (1972). This right simply does not attach when a Florida criminal defendant is brought before a judicial officer within 24 hours of his arrest for a nonadversarial determination of probable cause or "first appearance" pursuant to Rule 3.130, see Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 122 (1975); see also Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 687; Baker v. State, 202 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1967); Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1938), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 977 (1983); Perkins v. State, 228 So.2d 382, 388-389 (Fla. 1969). For this Court to retroactively interpret our state constitution's version of the Sixth Amendment to afford those arrestees who have been "first appearanced" a right to counsel more expansive than that afforded to them under the federal constitution would be totally unwarranted considering that the police here not only faithfully followed the letter of the law as it existed at the time of appellant's post-September 7 interrogations, they also faithfully followed the spirit of that law, contrast Haliburton v. State, 514 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) and State v. Douse. Appellant's Fifth Amendment right to counsel attached no later than the time of his arrest, see Caso v. State, 13 F.L.W. 249 (Fla. Aprl 7, 1988), and would have adequately protected him from all of the various

subsequent solo interrogations had he chosen to avail himself of it. Of course, appellant voluntarily waived this right for reasons of his own, <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 353, 356, which was certainly his prerogative, <u>Colorado v. Connelly</u>.

Third, even if this Court were to accept appellant's position here, any error in admitting his post-September 7 confessions would be clearly harmless considering the undeniable admissibility of appellant's confessions of September 6 to Detective Buzzo (DR 1042-1045; 1079, 1095), Detective Richard Bellrose (DR 1110-1113), and Officer Ronald Peluso - the latter of which occurred as the result of a conversation appellant initiated (DR 1066-1068), as noted. Compare <u>Caso v. State</u>. The harmlessness of any error is further highlighted by the fact that the State introduced evidence that appellant several times confessed the Kipp murder to a private citizen, his girlfriend Karen Wentnick, as also noted (DR 1160), <u>Doyle</u> <u>v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 353, 355. Cf. <u>Zamora v. Dugger</u>, 834 F.2d 956, 958-959.

V "Mental Retardation" Claim

Appellant presents here for the first time the claim that his execution would constitute cruel and unusual punishment because he is supposedly "mentally retarded." Of course, under the authorities aforecited this claim is not cognizable collaterally because it could have been litigated upon direct appeal if it had been properly preserved at trial. Appellant's attempt to excuse this procedural default by blaming original appellate defense counsel for not pressing this unpreserved claim is not only uncompelling as a matter of law, <u>Jacobs</u> <u>v. Wainwright</u>, but is particularly unconvincing given that <u>he</u> inexcusably did not include it in his 3.850 motion years later. Appellant's premiering of this claim at this late date evinces his lack of appreciation for the principles of finality so stressed by this Court in <u>Witt</u>. Cf. <u>Cochran</u> <u>v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 207, 208 (Fla. 1985).

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